THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission
Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No.: 2015-002575

RECEIVED

JUN 27 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Johnny Tucker, Employee,..... Appellant,

v.

SC Department of Transportation, Employer,
and State Accident Fund, Carrier,..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211

and

Gerald Malloy, Esquire
Malloy Law Firm
108 Cargill Way
Hartsville, South Carolina 29551
(843) 339-3000

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHERE THE RECORD ESTABLISHES THAT THE CLAIMANT FILED A CLAIM AND APPLICATION FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION WITH THE COMMISSION WITHIN ONE (1) YEAR OF THE DATE OF THE LAST PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION (LESS THAN SIX (6) MONTHS) AS REQUIRED BY THE ACT, DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT'S APPLICATION FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION ON THE BASIS THAT A REQUEST FOR HEARING ON THE CHANGE OF CONDITION WAS NOT TIMELY FILED?
- II. WHERE THE DEFENSE THAT THE CLAIM WAS NOT TIMELY FILED IS AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE THAT MUST BE PLED AND IT WAS NOT PLED, DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIM FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION BASED ON THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE THAT THE CLAIMANT DID NOT TIMELY FILE FOR A HEARING FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION WITHIN 12 MONTHS OF THE LAST PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION?
- III. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT'S APPLICATION FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION ON THE BASIS IT WAS NOT TIMELY FILED WHERE THE DEFENDANTS ARE ESTOPPED FROM ALLEGING THIS DEFENSE UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE?
- IV. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY NOT SUBMITTING THE MOTION AND PETITION FOR REHEARING TO THE APPELLATE PANEL THAT ISSUED THE INITIAL DECISION AND BY NOT MAKING DETAILED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AS REQUIRED BY LAW ON ALL OF THE ESSENTIAL ISSUES PRESENTED TO IT FOR DECISION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following an Award by the Commission wherein benefits were paid on November 28, 2012, on May 2, 2013 the Claimant filed a Form 50 filing a claim for both a, "change of condition and undiagnosed condition claim". (R., pp. 51-52). After repeated communications between the parties, as set forth in the Record on Appeal, on July 20, 2014 the Claimant filed a Form 50 requesting a hearing on the change of condition and the undiagnosed condition claim. (R. pp. 57-60). On August 20, 2014 the Defendants filed a Form 51 denying the Claimant had sustained a change of condition for the worse and containing no affirmative defenses (R., pp. 61-62). A hearing was set for October 21, 2014 and the Claimant's Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions were timely filed on October 6th and the Defendants timely filed their Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions on October 10, 2014. (R., p. 63; pp. 64-142; pp. 143-173; pp. 223-275). Four and one half (4 ½) months after the hearing, the Commissioner issued a Request for Proposed Order on February 18, 2015. (R., p. 305). Both a request for time to review the proposed Order and a letter requesting reconsideration prior to a formal Order being issued were filed on March 27, 2015. (R., pp. 296-297). A revised proposed Order, revised as to certain issues, was submitted

and that Order was issued on April 1, 2015 (R., pp. 16-24). That same day, April 1st, a letter requesting both reconsideration of the revised proposed Order that had been submitted and the Order issued on April 1st was filed with the Commission via email. (R., pp. 301-303). The Commissioner sent an email acknowledging receipt of request for reconsideration of the revised proposed Order that same day, April 1, 2015. (R., p. 304). Thereafter an Amended Decision and Order was issued by the Hearing Commissioner on April 14, 2015. (R., pp. 25-33).

A timely Form 30 was then filed to the Amended Decision and Order on April 21, 2015 setting forth the grounds for review. (R., pp. 174-176). The Claimant submitted a Brief with the Full Commission (R., pp. 177-191) and the Defendants filed a responsive Brief. (R., pp. 192-199). After the issues were joined, a hearing was held by a Full Commission Panel on July 21, 2015 on the Request for Review. (R., pp. 176-295). The Decision and Order of the Full Commission was issued on September 11, 2015 and a Motion and Request for Rehearing to the Order was filed on October 8, 2015. (R., pp. 210-215; p. 200-209). A response to the Motion was filed by the Defendants on October 16, 2015 and a Reply was filed to that Response by the Claimant on October 23, 2015. (R., 210-214; pp. 215-217).

Thereafter on November 16, 2015, a "Judicial Conference Decision" was issued by the Commission on the Motion for Rehearing listing all Commissioners including the Hearing Commissioner as having considered the Motion for Rehearing, which form Order "dismissed" the request. (R., p. 47).

Notice of Intent to Appeal the final Decisions of the SC Workers' Compensation Commission was timely filed on December 16, 2015 setting forth the Grounds for the appeal. (R., pp. 218-222). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Following an Award by the Commission, benefits were paid on November 28, 2012. On May 2, 2013, the Claimant filed a Form 50 filing a claim for both a, **"change of condition and undiagnosed condition claim"**. Attached to the claim was the opinion of an authorized treating physician, Dr. Emmanuel O. Quaye, who found that Mr. Tucker had undergone a change of condition for the worse and had referred him to an orthopaedist, Dr. Christopher Mazoue. In his initial evaluation, in addition to the previous diagnoses and conditions, Dr. Mazoue stated that Mr. Tucker most likely had sustained a brachial plexus injury and possibly cervical spine pathology and recommended electro-diagnostic studies. The claim specifically requested authorization for the recommended medical care. (R., pp.

51-52).

As is set out in the Record, both before and after filing the claim for a change of condition, the Claimant through his Counsel contacted prior Defense Counsel (hereinafter Ms. Alphin) first on March 18, 2013 and then a second request was made on April 8, 2013 requesting specifically:

"I would appreciate your thoughts on this case and would appreciate it if you would get with the State Accident Fund and see how they want to proceed." (R., pp. 138-141).

Thereafter at the direction of Ms. Alphin, Counsel for the Claimant on May 2, 2013, in addition to serving the adjuster with the claim, wrote the assigned claims adjuster, Ms. Robin Oxner-King, requesting medical care. Again on July 26, 2013 in writing, Claimant's Counsel contacted the assigned adjuster, at the direction of Ms. Alphin, and again requested the medical care as found to be necessary pursuant to the medical reports already provided to the Defendants since March of 2013. (R., pp. 136-137).

Thereafter, Mr. Tucker made repeated requests for authorization for medical care or as to how the Defendants wanted to proceed. There was no reply and there is no evidence in the Record of any reply to those requests or communications, as required by Regulation, denying,

accepting or offering any further medical care. There being no reply, on July 30, 2014 the Claimant filed for a hearing on the change of condition claim previously filed on May 2, 2013 requesting the medical care, evaluations and treatment, that was being provided at that time by Dr. Christopher Mazoue and previously by an authorized treating physician, Dr. Quaye, and requesting temporary total weekly compensation as determined by the Commission to be due, and paid until maximum medical improvement. The Request for Hearing requested a hearing on the bases of both a, "**change of condition and undiagnosed condition**". (R., p. 58).

A responsive Form 51 was filed on August 20, 2014 which set out as to the reasons for denial: "Defendants deny the Claimant has sustained a change of condition for the worse." On the Form 51, "Employer's Answer to Request for Hearing", question #11: "Further contentions, grounds of defense, or unusual aspects:" was left blank. In other words, no other defenses were listed. (R., p. 62).

(Emphasis added).

Subsequent to the Request for Hearing and the responsive Form 51, this matter came to be heard on October 21, 2014. In his Pre-Hearing Brief, Mr. Tucker specifically noted he was filing both a change of condition and an undiagnosed condition claim. On October 10, 2014,

the Defendants filed their Form 58 Pre-Hearing Brief and for the first time alleged a defense of, "whether the claimant timely filed a hearing request for change of condition".

At the hearing, the Defendants asserted the position that the Claimant must both file a claim and file for a hearing within twelve (12) months after the payment of compensation and the Claimant stated his position that only a "claim" needs to be filed within twelve (12) months and cited as authority, Allen v. Benson Outdoor Advertising Co., 236 S.C. 22, 112 S.E.2d 722 (1960).

Subsequent to the hearing on February 18, 2015, the Commissioner issued his notes for a proposed Order and on March 27, 2015 a proposed Order was forwarded to Counsel for the Claimant. On March 27, 2015, Claimant's Counsel filed both a request for additional time to review and a Request for Reconsideration before formal Order: 1) noting specifically that the Defendants had not raised the affirmative defense that the request for a change of condition had not been timely filed; 2) requesting the application of existing case law and requesting a liberal construction of the Act as the Commission is required to do; and 3) requesting a reversal and remand for a de novo hearing based on the violation of the Claimant's due

process rights for failure to give him notice of the issues to be heard at the hearing.

The Hearing Commissioner issued an Order on April 1, 2015. Immediately upon receipt of the signed Order on April 1st, Claimant's Counsel objected to the Order and specifically to the Statement of the Case and Defense Counsel's failure to include any reference in the Statement to the application (the claim) for a Change of Condition that had been filed on May 2, 2013. He specifically objected to the failure of Defense Counsel to refer to his numerous requests for medical care and his attempts to determine the position of the Defendants in reference to the application for a Change of Condition that had occurred between the filing of the "claim" and the date that the Claimant "requested a hearing" on the claim/application for a Change of Condition. He also objected to the inclusion of legal authority not referred to during argument by either party and to the inclusion of a Statement of Evidence of the Case presented at hearing since the Hearing Commissioner's decision was based only on the affirmative defense. Finally, the Claimant specifically objected to the failure to include any reference to established precedent that holds that a challenge or defense to timeliness based on a filing of a Change of Condition is an

affirmative defense under the Regulations and law that must be pled. An Amended Order was then filed on April 14, 2015. The revised Order struck the Evidence of the Case section; however, the legal precedents not referred to by either Counsel at argument before the Commissioner were still included in the Order and the Order made no reference to whether or not a defense based on timeliness of the filing of Change of Condition is an affirmative defense.

Thereafter the Request for Review by the Full Commission proceeded in the normal course of procedure and an Order affirming the Hearing Commissioner was issued.

The Claimant then filed a Request for Rehearing or Reconsideration as to the Decision of the Full Commission. In that Request for Rehearing, the Claimant specifically noted all of the various law and statutes and Regulations that require the Commission to address all of the issues that are presented to it for review. The Claimant specifically noted that the Claimant had raised seven (7) Grounds for Review before the Full Commission, six (6) of which specifically involved errors of law by the Single Commissioner and specifically that the Commission had failed to note and comply with the Regulations and statutory law that requires Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law to be made by the Commission on each material issue

raised. There was simply no decision made on the Claimant's legal errors by the Full Commission.

Further in reference to the actual Decision made and entered, the Motion that was before the Commission was a Motion/Petition for Rehearing but the Motion was not heard and decided by the original Hearing Panel but was submitted to and a decision on it was made by the Judicial Conference Committee and consisted of a one-page Form Order not denying the Motion for Rehearing but dismissing the Motion for Rehearing. All seven (7) Commissioners including the original Hearing Commissioner are listed as having concurred in that Decision.

ARGUMENTS

- I. WHERE THE RECORD ESTABLISHES THAT THE CLAIMANT FILED A CLAIM AND APPLICATION FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION WITH THE COMMISSION WITHIN ONE (1) YEAR OF THE DATE OF THE LAST PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION (LESS THAN SIX (6) MONTHS) AS REQUIRED BY THE ACT, THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT'S APPLICATION FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION ON THE BASIS THAT A REQUEST FOR HEARING ON THE CHANGE OF CONDITION WAS NOT TIMELY FILED.

The Defendants do not question that the, "claim" for a change of condition was timely filed but that under their interpretation of the law, not only must a claim be filed but a hearing must be requested. Neither the Statute nor the Commission Rules, nor the prior interpretation of the

Statute by the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals require or support this interruption. The filing of a claim is all that is necessary and the Commission's decision to the contrary is contrary to the law.

The Commission's authority is derived "strictly" from the Act and its provisions which are in derogation of the common law. Price v. Peachtree Electrical Services, Inc., 396 S.C. 403, 721 S.E.2d 461 (SC App. 2011), aff. modified 405 S.C. 455, 748 S.E.2d 229. The Commission must liberally construe the Act in favor of benefits and coverage in order to serve the beneficial purposes of the Act. James v. Anne's Inc., 390 S.C. 188, 701 S.E.2d 730, reh. den. (2010). This liberal interpretation principle of the wording of the Act in favor of benefits to the injured worker wherein the,

"workers' compensation law must be resolved in favor of the claimants, its provisions reconciled if possible, its purposes effectuated and its presumptions and penalties directed towards the end of providing coverage, rather than non-coverage,"

must be applied. Cokely v. Robert Lee, Inc., 197 S.C. 157, 14 S.E.2d 889 (1941). Contrary to the statement made during oral argument by a Commissioner, this liberal interpretation is required to be applied by the Commission to all aspects of the Act including any interpretation of

the wording in reference to benefits and any other provisions of the Act. This concept and the application of this fundamental construction principle which is required to be applied by the Commission is nowhere referenced in the Full Commission Order. Further, the Supreme Court has cautioned the Commission that the Act is required to be, "liberally" construed in favor of benefits and not, "literally" or narrowly construed to deny benefits. Hamm v. Mullins Lumber Co., 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d 712 (1940).

In addition to the requirement that the Commission must liberally interpret the Act in favor of benefits to the injured worker and the previous Supreme Court decisions interpreting the law in reference to the various time limitations for filing any type of a claim with the Commission, the Commission has adopted Regulations to implement the provisions of the Act.

Regulation 67-206 deals with the filing of any type of, "claim" with the Commission and specifically does not require that a request for hearing be filed at the same time that a claim is filed and the Rule basically allows for a bifurcated process. Note: that Regulation also requires that the employer's representative upon the filing of any type of a claim, "shall immediately contact the

claimant" in regard to the claim.

The Commission has adopted separate and distinct Regulations concerning when matters will be set for hearing. In addition to the provisions of the Act and the APA concerning the requirement that there must be issue(s) in controversy or in other words, a, "contested case" for a hearing to be set, Regulation 67-601(B) specifically provides that a hearing will not be set until a conflict arises. Regulation 67-602 deals with the setting of hearings and subsection (C) specifically refers to the setting of a hearing on,

"a claim involving a change of condition . .
 . ."

Therefore, not only are the filing of, "claims" and "requests for hearing" dealt with under separate sections of the Regulations, but based on a clear reading of the Commission's own Regulations, there is no requirement that the request for a hearing must be filed on a change of condition within twelve (12) months; only that a "claim" must be filed. Under the Regulations, a "request for hearing" is separate and distinct from the filing of any, "claim".

The Commission is an Administrative Body that is charged with administering the Workers' Compensation Act

and has absolutely no authority to interpret the law except where the law has been interpreted by our Courts which the Commission must follow. The Commission must apply the plain and ordinary meaning of the Statutes, and is duty bound to interpret the law in reference to the best interest of the injured worker and under that principle must resolve any ambiguities in favor of the injured worker. In addition, while the Commission is given deference to the interpretation of the law and as to its Regulations, where the Commission's interpretation is contrary to the law, this is an error of law. The Commission has already interpreted the word, "application" to mean a "claim". Regulation 67-206(B); 67-602(C); and the Commissioner's reinterpretation or contrary interpretation is an error of law. An Agency's interpretation of its own Regulation that is contrary to that Regulation's plain language is an error of law. Brown v. SC Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, 348 S.C. 507, 560 S.E.2d 410 (2002). In this case, there is no Statute, Regulation or Supreme Court decision interpreting the word "application" to mean anything other than filing of a claim.

When one adds to this the Supreme Court's specific holding in Allen, supra, (wherein the Court specifically held that the hearing does not have to be held within the

one year, only that the application for review must be filed within one (1) year), under any interpretation of the Statute, the Commission's Regulations and the previous rulings of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals the filing of a request for hearing is separate from the required filing of a claim to toll the statute. Quoting from Allen:

"Appellants (the insurance carrier in that case) say that the forgoing statutory limitations 'is directed to the Industrial Commission rather than to the parties to the action', and that it is not sufficient for the application for review to be made within one year after the last payment of compensation but the application must be heard by the Commission within that period."

* * *

"We do not agree with Appellant's view. It represents a literal and strict construction of §72-359 when under the well settled Rule a liberal construction is required. To sustain Appellant's contention would lead to a rather unreasonable result clearly not within the intent of a Legislature".

Quoting further from the Allen decision:

"In Wilkes v. State Compensation Commissioner, supra, the Court said [120 W.Va. 424, 198 S.E. 871]:

'The filing of a claim for further compensation within the Statutory period and partial but not complete development thereof within such period, with loss of jurisdiction by the Commission during the

progress of the case, would be an absurd result which the Legislature certainly did not have in mind and we feel warranted in holding that the Statute in question should be given a construction which permits the Commissioner to hear and pass upon any application in writing for a further adjustment of a claim, if filed within a statutory period applicable to the nature of the claim filed." (Emphasis added).

The Defendants interpretation would also result in unnecessary litigation, discourage resolution of issues, and add a requirement to the Act not within its clear meaning. Therefore, under the statute the Commission's Regulations, and the interpretation of that Statute by the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals, the Commission erred by interpreting the Statute and Regulations to require that the Claimant has to, in addition to filing a claim timely, request a hearing on that claim within the 12-month period. The decision must be reversed and this case remanded for a de novo hearing.

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