THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
APPELLATE PANEL

JUL 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2015-002575

Johnny Tucker, Employee.....Appellant,

v.

SC Department of Transportation, Employer,
and State Accident Fund, Carrier.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Sarah S. Alphin, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 78645
Willson, Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard
Columbia, South Carolina 29209
(803) 227-2885

John Paul Simkovich, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 101861
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard
Columbia, South Carolina 29209
(803) 227-2893

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

On its own motion or **on the application of a party** in interest on the ground of a change in condition, the commission may review an award and on that review may make an award ending, diminishing, or increasing the compensation previously awarded, on proof by a preponderance of the evidence that there has been a change of condition caused by the original injury, after the last payment of compensation. . . . The review does not affect the award as regards any monies paid and the **review must not be made after twelve months from the date of the last payment of compensation** pursuant to an award provided by this title.

(emphasis added).

The word "application" signifies that a claimant must petition the Commission to take action. Indeed, Black's Law Dictionary defines the term application to mean a

“request or petition.” Black’s Law Dictionary 108 (8th ed. 2004). Similarly, a motion is defined as a written or oral application requesting a court to make a specified ruling or order. Id. at 1036. Taking the words in the statute together, “motion” and “application” can be used interchangeably and both mandate an affirmative request be made. Thus, the statute is clear that in order for a claimant to seek the Commission’s review of a previous award based on a change of condition, he must request a hearing on the matter. The Commission lacks jurisdiction over an alleged change of condition if a hearing is not requested within twelve months after payment of last compensation.

Appellant argues that filing notice of a claim for change of condition is sufficient to satisfy S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90. However, simply filing a notice of claim is not a request or petition and in no way is a request for the Commission to take action. To accept Appellant’s position would be to ignore the plain language of the statute that mandates making an application to the Commission for review.

Moreover, the South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that “[t]he cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (citation omitted). “The text of a statute as drafted by the legislature is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” Id. It is clear that the legislature specifically included the one year application requirement in S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90 to allow claims to reach resolution and prevent prejudice to employers and insurance carriers alike. Conversely, Appellant’s proposed interpretation of the statute would incentivize claimants to file a “Notice of Claim” to toll the one year statutory requirement for a change in condition

even if they had not yet experienced a worsening of condition. They could then, at any point in the future, file a request for hearing and be awarded benefits.

Appellant's proposed interpretation would effectively nullify the one year statutory filing requirement and would be in complete dereliction to the legislature's intent. It is inconceivable that the legislature included the twelve month application period merely to test claimants' acumen for filing paperwork. Appellant's argument asks this Court to interpret the plain and ordinary meaning of a time limit in a way that would render such time limit meaningless. Accepting Appellant's argument would allow claimants to file meaningless claim notices to meet a time requirement and then sit idle for years to come before asking the Commission to take some action. The legislature did not intend claimants to circumvent the clear time period in such a way, as evidenced by the fact that there is a time period at all.

The controlling statute for a change of condition is not ambiguous. A claimant must make an application, by requesting a hearing, on the grounds of a change of condition within one year of the last payment of compensation. The legislative intent is clear. The legislature purposely chose the language in the statute to restrict claimants from seeking additional benefits years after the adjudication of the original claim.

Appellant makes the blanket assertion that "there is no statute, Regulation or Supreme Court decision interpreting the word 'application' to mean anything other than filing of a claim." (Appellant's Final Br. 13.) However, Appellant cites no controlling authority supporting this broad and inaccurate conclusion. Appellant purports to rely on Allen to establish that the Commission should use a liberal construction of the statute to allow for the Commission's review of the claim. Though the Court in Allen did apply a

liberal construction to the change of condition statute, it did so to prevent a timely and properly submitted hearing request for a change of condition from being time barred under the statute where the Commission itself did not hear the claim within a one year period. 236 at 30, 112 S.E.2d at 726. Allen prevents injured workers from being penalized for timing and scheduling factors out of their control once their request for hearing has been properly submitted to the Commission. This rationale does not apply to the facts at hand as Appellant is not being penalized by scheduled factors out of his control. Appellant simply did not request a hearing within the statutorily required period.

Additionally, Appellant quotes the Allen decision and emphasizes the word “claim” in support of the notion that filing a “claim only” is akin to applying for a hearing. (Appellant’s Final Br. 14-15.) The quote is from a West Virginia case and was used by the Court in Allen to support its holding that the claimant should not be penalized for external factors. 236 S.C. at 30, 112 S.E.2d at 726. The Court did not quote West Virginia’s holding to establish that filing a “Notice of Claim” meets the statutory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90. In fact, this was never an issue in Allen as the claimant in that case, unlike the case at hand, timely filed an application for a hearing.

Lastly, the court is to give deference to an administrative agency’s interpretation of an applicable statute and its own regulations. Brown v. South Carolina Dep’t Health and Env’tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410 (2002). Procedurally, the Single Commissioner found in Respondents favor interpreting S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90 to mean that an “application” requires the Appellant to request the Commission to take some action as opposed to simply providing the Commission notice of a claim. (R. pp.

25-33). This decision was subsequently affirmed by the Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel. (R. pp. 34-46).

B. SC Workers' Compensation Commission Regulations support the Commission's determination that the claim for a change of condition is only properly established through the filing of a Request for a Hearing.

In an effort to circumvent the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90, Appellant attempts to identify inconsistencies in the Regulations of the Act to bolster his argument that the word "application" means anything other than a request for a hearing. Appellant argues that S.C. Reg. 67-206 and 67-207 "basically" allows for a bifurcated process in which he can simply file a claim with the Commission on a change of condition without requesting a hearing at the same time. (Appellant's Final Br. 11.) However, S.C. Reg. 67-206 and 67-207 only detail the required information and filing instructions for completing forms, including a hearing request and a notice of claim. The regulations do not purport to establish the sufficiency of any form to comply with the requirements of any statute, recommend the merits or usage of any form, or create a bifurcated system under any statute.

Appellant continues his crusade to evade the plain meaning of S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90 by quoting a portion of S.C. Reg. 67-602(c) as proof that the Workers' Compensation Act allows for filing a "claim only" for a change of condition and that this is somehow separate and apart from filing a hearing request on the grounds of change of condition. (Appellant's Final Br. 12.) In doing so, he conveniently omits the remaining language of the Regulation. S.C. Reg. 67-602(c) states that "[i]n a claim involving a change of condition, the moving party must attach to the *hearing request form* a medical report(s) indicating a change in condition." (*emphasis added*). S.C. Reg. 67-207(B) states

that filing a Form 50 Request for a Hearing simultaneously establishes a claim with the Commission. In other words, it is not a bifurcated process. Therefore, Appellant is correct in his assertion that S.C. Reg. 67-602 specifically refers to the requirements of setting a hearing on “a claim involving a change of condition,” but he ignores that the establishment of that “claim” is only accomplished through filing a Form 50 Request for a Hearing.

II. Respondents properly pled the defense that Appellant failed to make an application for a change of condition within twelve months from the date of last payment of compensation.

As set forth above, Appellant does not meet the statutory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90. It is inherent that if Appellant did not meet all the requirements, then he did not sustain a change of condition for the worse under the law. Respondents assert the inquiry ends there as failure to meet the requirements bars Appellant from receiving any further benefits and deprives the Commission of jurisdiction. However, in another attempt to circumvent the entire meaning and purpose of the law, Appellant asserts that Respondents are barred from arguing that Appellant cannot meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90.

Appellant argues that Respondents are barred from asserting Appellant’s request for a hearing for a change of condition was untimely because Respondents did not raise this defense in their Form 51 response. Notably, Appellant never even raised this argument at the Single Commissioner Hearing. (R. pp. 223-275). As discussed above, this argument must fail because the one year filing period is not an affirmative defense to be pled but instead an express requirement of the statute itself. A claimant must comply with the time limitation requirements of the statute for the Commission to have

jurisdiction regardless of whether the defendants assert untimeliness as a defense. It is not Respondents' burden to detail how Appellant has failed to comport with the statute, and Appellant cites no authority otherwise.

Regardless, Respondents properly pled that Appellant did not sustain a change of condition for the worse. Respondents asserted in their Pre-Hearing Brief that Appellant did not timely make an application for review of a change of condition. (R. pp. 144-145). Respondents also specifically amended their Form 51 by way of the Pre-Hearing Brief and pled the defense that Appellant failed to request a hearing on a change of condition within one year. (R. p. 145). Therefore, Appellant's assertion that Respondents did not raise this defense in their Form 51 is inaccurate.

Appellant cites S.C. Reg. 67-603 as support for his argument and combines subsection B and C to create the proposition that where the defendants fail to reply to each specification in the Form 50, the defendants forfeit the corresponding defenses. (Appellant's Final Br. 15-17.) This is an inaccurate reading of the Regulation because subsection C specifically applies to defendants *failing* to file a Form 51. Reg. 67-603(C). The Regulation states that where no Form 51 is filed within the statutorily required period, the defendants shall forfeit each special and affirmative defense. (*Id.*) Subsection C is inapplicable to the case at hand because Respondents timely filed a Form 51 denying Appellant met the requirements of a change of condition under S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90, giving Appellant notice of the denial.

III. Estoppel does not apply to bar the Respondents' assertion that Appellant failed to comply with the twelve month statutory filing requirement contained in S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals described the elements of estoppel as being divided between the estopped party and the party claiming the estoppel. Kelley v.

Kelley, 368 S.C. 602, 609, 629 S.E.2d 388, 392 (S.C. App., 2006) (citations omitted). For Appellant's estoppel argument to succeed, Appellant must prove "1) conduct which amounts to a false representation, or conduct calculated to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise, 2) the intention that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party, and 3) knowledge of the true facts." Id.

Appellant argues Respondents should be estopped from asserting Appellant's hearing request was untimely because "there is simply no evidence in the Record of the Appellant being advised as to whether the claim was being accepted or whether it was being denied." (Appellant's Final Br. 18 (emphasis removed).) Thus, by his own assertion, Appellant establishes estoppel does not apply in this matter because Respondents made no representation to Appellant on which he could justifiably rely in delaying his hearing application. Appellant cannot satisfy the elements for estoppel because Respondents gave Appellant no indication his claim was going to be accepted. Further, Respondents did not engage in conduct amounting to a misrepresentation or conduct calculated to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise. Additionally, Appellant cannot be said to have justifiably relied on the alleged silence of the Respondents for nearly fifteen months as a representation that Respondents intended to accept the change of condition claim such that the Appellant would reasonably believe he need not request a hearing.

IV. The Commission has discretion as to whether to entertain motions for rehearing, and therefore, the Commission properly dismissed Appellant's Motion for Rehearing within their discretion.

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently held that S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(1) affords claimants the right to petition the Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel

for a rehearing. Rhame v. Charleston County School Dist., 412 S.C. 273, 772 S.E.2d 159 (2015). The Court was presented with the issue of whether the Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel has the authority to entertain motions for rehearing. Id., 412 at 275, 772 at 160. The Court explained that the "plain and common sense interpretation [of §1-23-380(1)] envisions an expansive view of exhaustion of potential remedies before the agency and thus promotes judicial economy and avoids unnecessary appeals." Id., 412 at 277, 772 at 161. Therefore, the Supreme Court held in Rhame that the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission has the authority to entertain motions for rehearing. However, the Appellate Panel is not mandated to entertain such a motion for rehearing. Id. Appellant seems to confuse the discretionary authority granted to the Appellate Panel to rehear a case as a mandate to grant all motions for rehearing.

Appellant argued for rehearing on the basis that "review of the Commission Order will establish that the Commission did not address any of the specific legal issues and errors of law before it for review in its Full Commission Decision." (R. pp. 201-209). On August 4, 2015, the Full Commission issued a Request for a Proposed Order giving full affirmation to the findings of the Single Commissioner, and Respondents timely submitted the Proposed Order, which was then adopted, signed, and issued by the Commission. (R. pp. 34-46). The Workers' Compensation Commission properly acted within its authority to dismiss Appellant's petition for rehearing. A second review by the Appellate Panel of the sufficiency of its own procedures and its Findings that Appellant failed to timely exercise his rights would not have promoted judicial economy and prevented this appeal. Instead such rehearing on an issue of Appellant's neglect of his statutory rights would have been a misuse of the Commission's time.

Most importantly, the issue as to whether the Commission erred by not entertaining Appellant's Motion for Rehearing is moot as Appellant appealed this matter to this Court. There is no mandate that Appellant must be reheard by the Appellate Panel before appealing to the higher court. Rhame, 412 at 277, 772 at 161. Appellant was not prejudiced in any way, and in fact, if Appellant prevails on this Appeal the matter will be remanded back down to the Commission for adjudication in conformance with this Court's ruling. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(1976). This ground for Appellant's appeal has already been resolved through the filing of the Appeal itself.

CONCLUSION

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